695 27.4

69527.4

No. 69527-4-I

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

DIVISION ONE

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

GARY WADE,

Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR KING COUNTY

The Honorable Mary I. Yu

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

THOMAS M. KUMMEROW Attorney for Appellant

WASHINGTON APPELLATE PROJECT 1511 Third Avenue, Suite 701 Seattle, Washington 98101 (206) 587-2711

A. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

 The trial court violated Mr. Wade's right to confront the witnesses against him as required by the Sixth Amendment and Article I, section 22.

 The trial court erred in failing to instruct the jury on Mr.
 Wade's proposed lesser included offense instructions for first and second degree manslaughter.

3. The court erred in failing to instruct the jury using Defendant's Proposed Instruction 1.

 The court erred in failing to instruct the jury using Defendant's Proposed Instruction 5

 The court erred in failing to instruct the jury using Defendant's Proposed Instruction 6.

 The court erred in failing to instruct the jury using Defendant's Proposed Instruction 7.

 The court erred in failing to instruct the jury using Defendant's Proposed Instruction 8.

 The court erred in failing to instruct the jury using Defendant's Proposed Instruction 9. 9. The trial court erred in finding Mr. Wade's Utah conviction for attempted unlawful arranging to distribute a controlled substance comparable to a Washington felony offense.

10. Mr. Wade's Sixth and Fourteenth Amendment as well as article I, section 22 rights to present a defense were violated when the trial court barred him from admitting evidence regarding another suspect.

11. The trial court erred in failing to declare a mistrial when the investigating officer referenced Mr. Wade's booking photo while testifying before the jury.

12. The cumulative effect of the multiple errors requires reversal.

B. ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

1. The Confrontation Clause requires the prosecution offer an accused person the opportunity to cross-examine a witness who created testimonial evidence. Here, the prosecution did not call the person who researched and collected the banking records for the victim, but instead relied on a substitute witness who related what the investigator told her regarding the investigation. Was Mr. Wade denied his right to confront the witnesses against him?

2. A defendant's right to present a defense is a fundamental right guaranteed by the United States and Washington Constitutions. The right to present a defense encompasses the defendant's right to have the jury instructed on any lesser included offenses of the charged offenses. Mr. Wade proposed lesser included instructions for first and second degree manslaughter, which are lesser included offenses of second degree murder. Where the evidence established Mr. Wade may have killed Ms. Thornton but the evidence failed to prove how or why other than that Ms. Thornton died from being strangled, did the trial court err in failing to instruct the jury on first and degree manslaughter?

3. Prior out-of-state convictions may be included in the offender score if they are found to be comparable to Washington offenses. The court must determine whether the offenses are legally comparable by examining the elements, and if not legally comparable, whether they are factually comparable by looking at the facts underlying the foreign conviction that have been admitted to, stipulated to, or proven beyond a reasonable doubt. The court here found Mr. Wade's Utah conviction for attempted distribution of a controlled substance comparable despite the fact the State conceded the Utah offense was broader than similar Washington offenses. In addition, the

State failed to prove any facts admitted or stipulated to by Mr. Wade or found by a jury to establish his conduct was sufficient for comparability. Did the trial court err in finding the Utah conviction comparable thus requiring reversal of Mr. Wade's sentence?

4. As a part of the right to present a defense under the Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution, the defendant has the right to present relevant, admissible evidence on his behalf. Here, the trial court excluded evidence that Georgios Broutzakis was another suspect in Ms. Thornton's murder, finding Mr. Wade failed to establish a nexus between Mr. Broutzakis and the murder. Did the trial court's exclusion order prevent Mr. Wade from presenting a defense, thus entitling him to reversal of his conviction?

5. A trial court must grant a mistrial where a trial irregularity so prejudiced the jury that it denied the defendant a fair trial. Here the court entered an *in limine* order prohibiting any of the police officers from referencing Mr. Wade's booking photo. During the trial one of the officers violated the *in limine* order. Did the trial court abuse its discretion in failing to declare a mistrial mandating reversal of Mr. Wade's conviction?

6. Under the cumulative errors doctrine, the cumulative effect of multiple errors that would not necessarily require reversal on their own may deny a defendant a fair trial. Does the cumulative effect of the multiple errors in Mr. Wade's trial require reversal of his conviction?

C. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On January 6, 2011, in response to a missing persons report, Seattle Police detectives found Michelle Thornton dead in her apartment. 8/28/2012RP 46-62. Ms. Thornton had been strangled, but it was unclear whether the strangulation was done by ligature or manually. 9/5/2012RP 138-48. Based upon a review of Ms. Thornton's activities prior to her death and an investigation of her computer and bank records, the police determined she was likely killed in the early morning hours of December 30, 2010. 8/28/2012RP 106; 9/10/2012RP 48-50.

The apartment in which Ms. Thornton lived was a secure building with surveillance cameras capturing the images of all who entered or exited the main entry door. 8/28/2012RP 198-204. Based upon interviews of Ms. Thornton's friends and a review of the surveillance photos, the police focused their investigation on appellant,

Gary Wade. 9/5/2012RP 178-79; 9/12/2012RP 81-96, 152-58.

Fingerprints and DNA evidence of Mr. Wade were discovered in Ms.

Thornton's apartment and on her body. 9/4/2012RP 32, 53-55;

9/5/2012RP 28-33.

Mr. Wade was arrested and charged with second degree murder based upon the alternatives of intentional murder and felony murder that the murder occurred in the course of the commission of second degree assault. CP 1; 9/10/2012RP 78. Following a jury trial, Mr. Wade was convicted as charged. CP 142. Mr. Wade appeals from that verdict and the sentence imposed. CP 250.

D. ARGUMENT

1. MR. WADE WAS DENIED HIS RIGHT TO CONFRONT THE WITNESSES AGAINST HIM WHEN THE PERSON WHO INVESTIGATED AND OBTAINED CRITICAL BANK RECORDS OF THE VICTIM DID NOT TESTIFY AT TRIAL

Janet McGinness, a financial crime investigator for Key Bank, testified regarding activity on Ms. Thornton's Key Bank debit card around the time she disappeared. 8/28/2012RP 103-06. Ms. McGinnis testified the last activity on the debit card was an Automated Teller Machine (ATM) withdrawal on December 29, 2010. 8/28/2012RP 106. Ms. McGinnis subsequently disclosed that a credit purchase at Belltown Market was posted on December 31, 2010. 8/28/2012RP 113-14. Ms. McGinnis could not opine when that transaction actually occurred. 8/28/2012RP 132. Ms. McGinnis did opine that this transaction most likely occurred before the December 29, 2010, transaction. 8/28/2012RP 114.

On cross-examination, Ms. McGinnis disclosed that the information regarding the fact the December 31, 2010, posting was a transaction that occurred before the December 29, 2010, transaction came from someone else; it was not the result of her own investigation. 8/28/2010RP 133. Ms. McGinnis testified she received this information over the telephone from another Key Bank employee. *Id.* Ms. McGinnis stated that the information came from an investigator who dealt only with debit card cases. 8/28/2012RP 135.

Q: Your belief that that was her [the victim's] final transaction was based upon your conversation with Sarah [Anderson], correct, and her informing you when she thought the Belltown Market transaction occurred.

A: It was based on two things. It was based on me seeing this ATM transaction and knowing what time and what date that happened, and then confirming with Sarah Anderson that the Belltown Market merchant transaction happened prior to that date and time.

8/28/2012RP 138.

Based on this disclosure, Mr. Wade moved to strike Ms. McGinnis' opinion that the December 29, 2010, transaction was Ms. Thornton's last transaction and the December 31, 2010, transaction occurred prior to that transaction, on among other grounds, that the opinion violated Mr. Wade's constitutionally protected right to confrontation. 8/28/2010RP 139, 141. The trial court denied the motion to strike, finding the evidence provided by the witness reliable. 8/28/2012RP 153 ("And so frankly, when I look at the analysis, it does come down to how reliable is it. And while not perfect, this court is going to come to the conclusion and treat it much like a business record").

a. <u>The Confrontation Clause prohibits the prosecution</u> <u>from relying on results of an investigation without calling the person</u> <u>who performed the investigation as a witness</u>. The Sixth Amendment to the United States Constitution and article I, section 22 of the Washington Constitution guarantee criminal defendants the right to confront and cross-examine witnesses. The Confrontation Clause "applies to 'witnesses' against the accused - in other words, those who 'bear testimony.'" *Crawford v. Washington*, 541 U.S. 36, 51, 124 S.Ct. 1354, 158 L.Ed.2d 177 (2004) (citation omitted). It also "bars

'admission of testimonial statements of a witness who did not appear at trial unless [the declarant] was unavailable to testify, and the defendant had had a prior opportunity for cross-examination.'" *Davis v. Washington*, 547 U.S. 813, 821, 126 S.Ct. 2266, 165 L.Ed.2d 224
(2006), *quoting Crawford*, 541 U.S. at 53-54.

The United States Supreme Court has ruled that a lab technician's certification prepared in connection with a criminal prosecution was "testimonial" and its admission at trial violated the Confrontation Clause. *Melendez-Diaz v. Massachusetts*, 557 U.S. 305, 319-24, 129 S.Ct. 2527, 174 L.Ed.2d 314 (2009). "A document created solely for 'an evidentiary purpose,' made in aid of a police investigation ranks as testimonial." *Bullcoming v. New Mexico*, _____ U.S. ___, 131 S.Ct. 2705, 2717, 180 L.Ed.2d 610 (2011), *quoting Melendez-Diaz*, 557 U.S. at 317-20.

When a forensic analyst tests evidence and prepares a report for use in a criminal investigation, the substance of that report is "'testimonial,' and therefore within the compass of the Confrontation Clause." *Id.* at 2714, *quoting Melendez-Diaz*, 557 U.S. at 317-21. The Confrontation Clause guarantees the defendant the opportunity to test through cross-examination the "honesty, proficiency, and methodology" of the analyst who actually performed the forensic analysis. *Melendez-Diaz*, 557 U.S. at 317-20. Accordingly, an analyst's report may not be introduced into evidence by another witness who did not personally observe the testing of the substance. *Bullcoming*, 131 S.Ct. at 2717.

In *Bullcoming*, another scientist employed by the same crime laboratory testified because the scientist who analyzed the blood alcohol sample at issue had taken a leave of absence. The state court ruled that this surrograte testimony satisifed the Sixth Amendment because the accused had the opportunity to cross-examine a live witness from the same laboratory about the procedures used to obtain relatively straightforward machine-generated results. *Id.* at 2714-15. The United States Supreme Court reversed and held that the "opportunity to confront a substitute witness" does not satisfy the constitutional right to confrontation. *Id.* at 2716.

The *Bullcoming* Court explained that the Confrontation Clause does not tolerate dispensing with confrontation simply because the court believes that questioning one witness about another's testimonial statements provides a fair enough opportunity for cross-examination. *Id.* Furthermore, substituting a witness who can comment on work

done by someone else but who did not personally test the substance or observe the testing as it occurred does not serve the purpose of confrontation. *Id.* Surrogate testimony cannot convey what the analyst knew or observed about the events her report concerned, and cannot "expose any lapse or lies" by the analyst. *Id.* at 2715.

In an analogous scenario, our Supreme Court recently reaffirmed the testimonial significance of reports generated out of court and "the need to cross-examine the government agents who prepare them." *State v. Jasper*, 174 Wn.2d 96, 116, 271 P.3d 876 (2012), *citing Bullcoming*, 131 S.Ct. at 2715. Even when written reports are obviously reliable, the Confrontation Clause dictates that the accused person must have the right "to raise before a jury questions concerning [the scientist's] proficiency, the care he took in performing his work, and his veracity." *Id., quoting Bullcoming*, 131 S.Ct. at 2715 n.7.

b. <u>Sarah Anderson's investigation of Ms. Thornton's</u> <u>bank records and disclosure to Ms. McGinnis was testimonial</u>. A surrogate witness from Key Bank, Ms. McGinnis, testified about what Sarah Anderson discovered when she searched Ms. Thornton's debit card transactions at the police detective's request, even though Ms. McGinnis did not observe Ms. Anderson take these steps.

8/28/2012RP 113-14, 132-34, 138. Ms. Anderson claimed that the December 31, 2010, transaction actually occurred prior to December 29, 2010, making the latter the last transaction by Ms. Thornton. *Id.*Ms. McGinnis did not engage in this search, but had Ms. Anderson decribe her search and opinion based on that search over the telephone. *Id.* Ms. Anderson had conducted this search after a request by the Seattle Police Department as part of the investigation of Ms. Thornton's murder. 8/28/2012RP 135-37.

Ms. Anderson's information was testimonial. Her investigation was solely on the request of the police and had no other purpose than the preparation for and introduction at trial. Ms. Anderson was asked to search the Key Bank database for any debit card transactions by Ms. Thornton during the last weeks of December 2010, then opine, based on that investigation, that the December 31, 2010, transaction actually occurred before the December 29, 2010, ATM transaction.

The Confrontation Clause does not allow the prosecution to present one person's testimonial statements through the trial testimony of another. *Crawford*, 541 U.S. at 68. So long as the investigator's testimonial statements were presented for their truth, regardless of the conduit, the investigator became a witness that Mr. Wade had a right to confront. *Bullcoming*, 131 S. Ct. 2716. Mr. Wade was denied his right to confront the person who engaged in the research of the bank records on which the prosecution relied to show the December 29, 2010, transaction was Ms. Thornton's last one.

c. The violation of Mr. Wade's right to confront witnesses against him requires reversal. The State has the burden of demonstrating beyond a reasonable doubt that a confrontation violation did not contribute to the verdict. Chapman v. California, 386 U.S. 18, 23-24, 87 S.Ct. 824, 17 L.Ed.2d 705 (1967); see also Delaware v. Van Arsdall, 475 U.S. 673, 684, 106 S.Ct. 1431, 89 L.Ed.2d 674 (1986) ("The correct inquiry is whether, assuming that the damaging potential of the cross-examination were fully realized, a reviewing court might nonetheless say that the error was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt"); United States v. Alvarado-Valdez, 521 F.3d 337, 342 (5th Cir. 2008) (harmless error analysis following confrontation violation requires court to assess whether jury possibly relied on testimonial statement when reaching verdict); Fields v. United States, 952 A.2d 859 (D.C. 2008) (finding improperly admitted drug analysis not harmless when government could not prove it did not contribute to the verdict obtained).

The time of Ms. Thornton's death was critical to the State's theory that she was killed between December 29, 2010, and December 30, 2010. This time period allowed for Mr. Wade to be considered the prime suspect. Without this bank evidence, the State's theory weakened and a number of other people suddenly became potential suspects.

Based on its importance to the prosecution's case, the Key Bank investigation evidence was admitted in violation of the Confrontation Clause and requires reversal. *Id*.

> 2. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN FAILING TO INSTRUCT THE JURY ON THE LESSER INCLUDED OFFENSES OF FIRST AND SECOND DEGREE MANSLAUGHTER

Mr. Wade proposed jury instructions for lesser included offenses of first and second degree manslaughter. CP 106, 110-14. The trial court refused to instruct the jury on the lesser included instructions ruling that either Mr. Wade was guilty of the murder or he was not. 9/17/2012RP 46. Mr. Wade excepted to the court's failure to give the lesser included instructions. 9/17/2012RP 59.

a. A defendant is entitled to have the jury instructed on a lesser included offense where authorized. The Sixth Amendment and the Due Process Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment guarantee a defendant's right to a trial by jury and right to be afforded a meaningful opportunity to present a complete defense. Sullivan v. Louisiana, 508 U.S. 275, 277, 113 S.Ct. 2078, 124 L.Ed.2d 182 (1993) (the Sixth Amendment protects the defendant's right to trial by an impartial jury, which includes "as its most important element, the right to have the jury, rather than the judge, reach the requisite finding of 'guilty.'"); California v. Trombetta, 467 U.S. 479, 485, 104 S.Ct. 2528, 81 L.Ed.2d 413 (1984). As such, a court's failure to instruct the jury on a lesser included offense which is the basis of the defendant's theory of the case may violate the Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution. Beck v. Alabama, 447 U.S. 625, 633, 100 S.Ct. 2382, 65 L.Ed.2d 392 (1980); Conde v. Henry, 198 F.3d 734, 739-40 (9th Cir. 1999).

"In all other cases the defendant may be found guilty of an offense the commission of which is necessarily included within that with which he or she is charged in the indictment or information." RCW 10.61.006. The modern interpretation of RCW 10.61.006 is set

forth in State v. Workman, 90 Wn.2d 443, 584 P.2d 382 (1978). In Workman, the Supreme Court established a two-part test to serve as the basis for the lesser included analysis. First, each of the elements of the lesser offense must be a necessary element of the offense charged. Second, the evidence in the case must support an inference that the lesser crime was committed. Workman, 90 Wn.2d at 447-48. The first prong is referred to as the "legal prong" and the second prong as the "factual prong." State v. Berlin, 133 Wn.2d 541, 545-46, 947 P.2d 700 (1997). "Only when the lesser included offense analysis is applied to the offenses as charged and prosecuted, rather than to the offenses as they broadly appear in statute, can both the requirements of constitutional notice and the ability to argue a theory of the case be met." Id. at 548. In reviewing whether the evidence is sufficient to warrant the inferior degree instruction, this Court views the supporting evidence in the light most favorable to the party requesting the instruction. State v. Fernandez-Medina, 141 Wn.2d 448, 455-56, 6 P.3d 1150 (2000). Under this standard, a defendant is entitled to an inferior degree instruction where the evidence raises an inference that only the inferior degree offense was committed. Id. at 455.

First and second degree manslaughter are legally lesser included offenses of intentional murder, and such an instruction should be given to the jury when supported by the facts. *Berlin*, 133 Wn.2d at 543. Thus, the only issue was whether Mr. Wade fulfilled the factual prong of the test.

b. Taking the evidence in the light most favorable to Mr. Wade, the evidence established the factual prong for the lesser included instructions for first and/or second degree manslaughter. To determine whether the factual prong is satisfied, this Court must determine whether there was evidence affirmatively establishing Mr. Wade's guilt of the lesser offenses, first or second degree manslaughter. *Berlin*, 133 Wn.2d at 551; *State v. Perez-Cervantes*, 141 Wn.2d 468, 481, 6 P.3d 1160 (2000). "'It is not enough that the jury might simply disbelieve the State's evidence.'" *Perez-Cervantes*, 141 Wn.2d at 481, *quoting State v. Fowler*, 114 Wn.2d 59, 67, 785 P.2d 808 (1990). "If the evidence would permit a jury to rationally find a defendant guilty of the lesser offense and acquit him of the greater, a lesser included offense instruction should be given." *Berlin*, 133 Wn.2d at 551.

Here, the State conceded the case against Mr. Wade was entirely circumstantial. The State could not provide a motive or any reason

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