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

c. ARGUMENT 

1. ANY ERROR IN ADMITIING TESTIMONY ABOUT 
THE DATE OF MICHELLE THORNTON'S LAST 
CREDIT CARD TRANSACTION WAS HARMLESS 
BEYOND A REASONABLE DOUBT. 

Wade contends that his constitutional right to confront the 

witnesses against him was violated when a financial crimes 

investigator for Key Bank testified that Michelle Thornton's last 

credit card transaction (which posted on December 31,2010) took 

place no later than December 29, 2010, and then confirmed that 

she had obtained this information from a different investigator at the 

bank who did not testify at trial. But even if this was error, it was 

harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. Overwhelming evidence 

established that Thornton was murdered no later than December 

30,2010, when Wade was recorded on video entering and leaving 

Thornton's building multiple times. Any error in this regard does not 

merit reversal. 

a. Relevant Facts. 

The State called Janet McGinnis, a financial crimes 

investigator and custodian of records for finance records for Key 

Bank, to testify about activity on Michelle Thornton's bank account. 

10RP 102-04, 109. At the request of Seattle Police, who first 
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contacted her on January 6, 2011,11 McGinnis had searched for 

recent activity on Thornton's account. 10RP 104-07. McGinnis 

determined that the last activity on Thornton's Key Bank account 

was an ATM withdrawal on December 29,2010. 10RP 107. 

Thornton's bank statement, which covered December 7, 

2010 to January 7, 2011, also showed a credit card transaction at 

the Belltown Market that posted on December 31,2010. 10RP 

111-14. The bank statement did not indicate the date on which the 

credit card purchase was made. 10RP 114. McGinnis's 

investigation revealed that the transaction occurred no later than 

December 29,2010. 10RP 114. 

McGinnis explained that she did not personally have access 

to the database that showed the date on which the credit card 

transaction occurred; she obtained the date of December 29 by 

calling another investigator at Key Bank, Sarah Anderson.12 10RP 

133-35, 155. McGinnis confirmed that the information about the 

11 McGinnis was contacted on January 6 by a missing persons detective, and 
subsequently (possibly January 7) by Detective Devore from homicide. 10RP 
106-08. 

12 When McGinnis later tried to verify the information herself, she discovered that 
it had been overridden 90 days after the transaction, and was no longer available 
to the bank. 10RP 156. 
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credit card transaction is the type of information that she normally 

relies on in her work as an investigator for Key Bank. 10RP 136. 

Defense counsel moved to strike McGinnis's testimony 

about the date of the credit card transaction "based on improper 

foundation." 10RP 134, 139-40. Counsel additionally referenced 

"hearsay" and "a Crawford issue," pointing out that the defense was 

not able to cross-examine Anderson regarding what she looked at 

in reaching her conclusion as to the date of the transaction. 

10RP 140,141. The State responded that McGinnis reasonably 

relied on information from another Key Bank investigator in carrying 

out her own investigative work, and that the information was 

reliable. 10RP 137,141-42, 143-44. 

The trial court denied the motion to strike. 10RP 152-53. 

Finding the evidence at issue "very much akin to a business 

record," the court reasoned: "This is a person whose job and 

function is to investigate these kind [sic] of matters, who talked to 

another investigator who had specific jurisdiction over ATMs. This 

is something this individual indicated she would ordinarily have 

relied upon in terms of gleaning information and then simply 

providing it to somebody else." 10RP 153. The court concluded 
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that "it does come down to how reliable is it," and treated the 

evidence at issue "much like a business record." 10RP 153. 

b. Any Error Was Harmless. 

Hearsay is defined as "a statement, other than one made by 

the declarant while testifying at the trial or hearing, offered in 

evidence to prove the truth of the matter asserted ." ER 801 (c). 

Hearsay is not admissible except a~ provided by evidence rule, 

court rule, or statute. ER 802. A statutory exception exists for 

business records: 

A record of an act, condition or event, shall in so far 
as relevant, be competent evidence if the custodian or 
other qualified witness testifies to its identity and the 
mode of its preparation, and if it was made in the 
regular course of business, at or near the time of the 
act, condition or event, and if, in the opinion of the 
court, the sources of information, method and time of 
preparation were such as to justify its admission. 

RCW 5.45.020. 

The rules governing admissibility of evidence do not 

necessarily end the inquiry, however. The Sixth Amendment to the 

United States Constitution guarantees a criminal defendant the 

right to "be confronted with the witnesses against him." In Crawford 

v. Washington, the Supreme Court held that this guarantee extends 

to those witnesses who "bear testimony" against the defendant. 
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541 U.S. 36, 51, 124 S. Ct. 1354, 158 L. Ed .2d 177 (2004). 

"Testimony" is a declaration or affirmation "made for the purpose of 

establishing or proving some fact." ~ "Testimonial" statements 

include "pretrial statements that declarants would reasonably 

expect to be used prosecutorially." ~ Testimonial statements of a 

witness who did not appear at trial are not admissible unless the 

witness was unavailable to testify and the defendant had a prior 

opportunity to cross-examine the witness. ~ at 53-54. 

The Supreme Court in Melendez-Diaz v. Massachusetts, 

557 U.S. 305, 129 S. Ct. 2527, 174 L. Ed.2d 314 (2009), discussed 

the impact of the Crawford decision on the admissibility of business 

records. In Melendez-Diaz, the evidence at issue consisted of 

three sworn "certificates of analysis" indicating that a substance 

contained cocaine. 557 U.S. at 308. The forensic analysts who 

had prepared the certificates did not testify at trial. ~ at 309. 

The Supreme Court found a violation of the Confrontation 

Clause under these circumstances: 

Business and public records are generally admissible 
absent confrontation not because they qualify under 
an exception to the hearsay rules, but because -
having been created for the administration of an 
entity's affairs and not for the purpose of establishing 
or proving some fact at trial - they are not testimonial. 
Whether or not they qualify as business or official 
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records, the analysts' statements here - prepared 
specifically for use at petitioner's trial- were 
testimony against petitioner, and the analysts were 
subject to confrontation under the Sixth Amendment. 

1.9..:. at 324. 

It could be argued that Sarah Anderson falls within the 

definition of a witness against Wade. Anderson's statement to 

McGinnis that Thornton's last credit card transaction occurred no 

later than December 29,2010 was made for the purpose of 

establishing that fact; given Anderson's position as a financial 

crimes investigator, and the fact that McGinnis was gathering 

information at the request of the police, it may be reasonable to 

infer that Anderson expected that the information she gave to 

McGinnis would likely be used at trial. 13 

It is also reasonable to infer, however, that the record that 

Anderson was relying on when she relayed this information to 

McGinnis was created for the administration of Key Bank's affairs, 

and not for the purpose of establishing or proving some fact at trial. 

If this were the case, the statement would not be deemed 

13 The record does not clearly establish at what point in her investigation 
McGinnis called Anderson. It may have been after contact by a missing persons 
detective, but before contact by a homicide detective. See 10RP 136. If this 
were the case, it is likely that neither McGinnis nor Anderson expected the 
information to be used at a criminal trial. 
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testimonial, and thus would not be subject to confrontation. 

See Melendez-Diaz, 557 U.S. at 324. 

The problem is that McGinnis could not say what form the 

"record" that Anderson relied on in making her statement took. 

McGinnis could not obtain this record from the database to which 

she had access. 10RP 133. McGinnis believed that Anderson was 

looking at her computer when she answered the question about 

when the last credit card transaction on Thornton's account was 

made. 10RP 138. But McGinnis could not testify to the record's 

"identity and the mode of its preparation" as required by RCW 

5.45.020. And she did not rule out the possibility that Anderson 

had to make some sort of calculations, inferences or assumptions 

to come to her conclusion about the latest possible date on which 

the transaction could have occurred. Based on the deficiencies in 

the record here, Wade arguably had a right to confront Anderson. 

Nevertheless, even constitutional error is harmless if the 

reviewing court is "convinced beyond a reasonable doubt that any 

reasonable jury would have reached the same result without the 

error." State v. Jones, 168 Wn.2d 713, 724, 230 P.3d 576 (2010). 

There was overwhelming evidence in this case that Michelle 
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Thornton was not alive on December 31,2010, when her last credit 

card transaction posted to her account. 

First, there was evidence that directly supported the fact of a 

delay between a merchant transaction and the posting of that 

transaction to the cardholder's account. McGinnis testified from 

personal knowledge that the delay between such a transaction and 

its posting was at minimum 24 hours, and could be up to 72 hours. 

10RP 159-60. McGinnis had never seen a merchant transaction 

post on the same day that it occurred. 10RP 160. 

In addition, an employee of Nancy's Sewing Basket on 

Queen Anne Avenue produced a credit card receipt from the store 

dated December 27, 2010 in the amount of $3.50. 15RP 130-33; 

Ex. 75. This transaction posted to Thornton's account two days 

later, on December 29, 2010. 10RP 159; Ex. 14. 

Moreover, there was a mountain of other evidence 

demonstrating that Michelle Thornton was not alive when Wade 

was last seen leaving the Vine Court Apartments on the afternoon 

of December 30, 2010. Thornton's last outgoing phone call was 

made at 3:00 a.m. on December 30. 18RP 157-58. No one ever 

listened to voicemail messages that were left on December 30 

and 31. 19RP 107. The last time that anyone was buzzed in to 
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Thornton's apartment was in the early morning hours of December 

30; video surveillance showed that that person was Gary Wade. 

18RP 158. The last user-created activity on Thornton's computer 

was at 4: 12 a.m. on December 30. 16RP 60. Thornton never held 

her planned New Year's Eve Party. 9RP 21, 171; 15RP 93-94; 

18RP 142-44. And despite being a reliable employee, Thornton 

inexplicably did not show up for her scheduled shift at the Upper 

Queen Anne Safeway on December 30 at 2:15 p.m., nor did she 

appear for her next shift on December 31 at 9:15 a.m. 9RP 49-58. 

But the most telling evidence that Michelle Thornton was 

dead before the start of her 2: 15 p.m. shift at Safeway on 

December 30 came from Wade himself. After acknowledging his 

presence in Thornton's apartment from the early morning hours of 

December 30 into mid-afternoon of that day (Ex. 85 at 53-57), 

Wade admitted that he placed her body in the closet before he left: 

See okay when I seen her laid out right there, right. 
You could tell she had a heart attack. Justlaid out. 
Then I panicked. But then I was about to leave and I 
grabbed my bag and was about to leave out. And 
then the neighbor knock on the door. So I got scared 
and put her nicely in the closet and closed the door 
and left. 

Ex. 85 at 153. 
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Wade argues on appeal that any error in admitting 

Anderson's statement that Thornton's last credit card transaction 

occurred on or before December 29,2010 could not have been 

harmless because U[t]he time of Ms. Thornton's death was critical to 

the State's theory that she was killed between December 29,2010, 

and December 30, 2010." Brief of Appellant at 14. But this 

argument ignores the overwhelming evidence cited above, which 

unequivocally shows that Thornton was dead before Wade left her 

apartment building for the last time on the afternoon of December 

30, 2010. Any error in admitting Anderson's statement was 

harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. 

2. THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY REFUSED TO 
INSTRUCT THE JURY ON THE LESSER INCLUDED 
OFFENSES OF MANSLAUGHTER IN THE FIRST 
AND SECOND DEGREE. 

Wade maintains that the trial court erred in refusing to 

instruct the jury on the lesser included offenses of manslaughter in 

the first and second degree. However, there was no evidence in 

the record to support an inference that Thornton's death was 

brought about by either recklessness or negligence. The trial court 

thus properly exercised its discretion in refusing to instruct the jury 

on these lesser crimes. 
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a. Relevant Facts. 

The defense requested the trial court to instruct the jury on 

the lesser included offenses of Manslaughter in the First Degree 

and Manslaughter in the Second Degree. 21RP 42; CP 106-07, 

110-14, 118-19. Defense counsel argued that "this is a 

circumstantial evidence case," and "the jury hasn't been given any 

direct evidence as to what exactly occurred in that room with 

Ms. Thornton." 21 RP 44-45. Counsel summed up her argument: 

Essentially we don't know - the jury doesn't have any 
direct evidence as to what happened in that room, 
and so given that we believe that there is a basis to 
ask for those two lessers given that the State - how 
the State has charged this case. 

21 RP 45. 

The State opposed the instructions, arguing that they lacked 

support in the record: 

In this case there is simply no evidence of any 
reckless or negligent act of [sic] behalf of the 
defendant. Either he did it or he didn't. 

And there's been no testimony, the defendant did not 
testify about how this occurred or what happened. All 
we have him saying is that he was there and that he 
put her in the closet. There's nothing indicating any 
sort of reckless behavior or negligent behavior. 

21RP 42-43. 
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The trial court rejected the proposed instructions as 

unsupported: 

I have had the opportunity to give it some thought 
even before frankly any instructions were being 
offered, and I'm going to decline to include a lesser, 
and that's only because there has to be some, even if 
small, evidence that would support giving those 
instructions. At this point and I have to admit that I 
agree with the State that it's either guilty or not. 

And it is a case of circumstantial evidence and it very 
well could be that this jury is going to make a finding 
of not guilty based on the evidence that's been 
presented. But I don't think that there's anything that 
would support a lesser included at this point. 

21 RP 45-46. The defense properly noted its objection to the court's 

refusal to instruct the jury on the proposed lesser included offenses. 

21 RP 59. 

b. The Evidence Did Not Affirmatively Establish 
That The Defendant Committed Either Of The 
Lesser Included Offenses. 

An accused person may ordinarily be tried only for the 

offense charged. Wash. Const. art. I, § 22; State v. Peterson, 133 

Wn.2d 885, 889, 948 P.2d 381 (1997). An exception exists for 

lesser included offenses, whereby "the defendant may be found 

guilty of an offense the commission of which is necessarily included 

within that with which he or she is charged in the indictment or 

information." RCW 10.61.006. The offenses that fall under this 
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exception are referred to as "lesser included offenses." Peterson, 

133 Wn.2d at 889. 

An instruction on a lesser included offense is warranted if: 

1) each of the elements of the lesser offense is a necessary 

. element of the charged offense (the legal component); and 2) the 

evidence supports an inference that the lesser offense was 

committed (the factual component). State v. Fernandez-Medina, 

141 Wn.2d 448,454,6 P.3d 1150 (2000) (citing State v. Workman, 

90 Wn.2d 443,447-48,584 P.2d 382 (1978)). 

Both first and second degree manslaughter are lesser 

included offenses of second degree intentional murder; i.e., the 

crimes satisfy the legal component of the Workman test. State v. 

Berlin, 133 Wn.2d 541, 550-51, 947 P.2d 700 (1997). It is the 

factual component that is at issue here. 

"The purpose of [the factual component] is to ensure that 

there is evidence to support the giving of the requested instruction." 

Fernandez-Medina, 141 Wn.2d at 455. The evidence "must raise 

an inference that only the lesser included/inferior degree offense 

was committed to the exclusion of the charged offense." kL. (italics 

in original). The trial court must consider all of the evidence 

presented at trial when deciding whether to give a jury instruction 
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on a lesser included offense. kL at 456. However, it is not enough 

that the jury might disbelieve the evidence pointing to guilt - the

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